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SUBMISSION BY JOHN HAIG PTY LTD ON BEHALF OF CLIENTS
Wine Equalisation Tax Rebate: Tightened Eligibility Criteria 

We write in response to the invitation to comment on the Government’s proposed approach to implementing tightened WET producer rebate eligibility criteria.
These comments are made on behalf of producers of wine who would fit the description of “virtual” producers in that they do not own or lease vineyards or wineries.  Nevertheless, these producers (also referred to below as “our clients”) contend strongly that they are making, and wish to continue to make, a lawful and valuable contribution to the Australian wine industry by securing markets for fruit grown by regional growers and for wine made by regional winemakers.
Variously, they purchase large quantities of fruit, crushed fruit and bulk wine that has already been processed, manufacture it into different commercial products and then package and sell the finished wine to Australian wholesalers and retailers.
Their activities are scrutinised and signed off by the Australian Taxation Office.  Before making their rebate claims they deduct any previous WET rebates claimed by the bulk wine producer from their own claim to prevent double dipping.  Some clients claim the maximum entitlement before each 30 June and then pay full WET on their additional sales, others claim less.  They have all been involved in the wine industry for many years.

The call for reform 
As noted in the Implementation Paper released in September 2016, the wine industry has called for reform of the WET rebate to discourage or prevent:
· the creation of artificial structures with a view to making multiple rebate claims; and

· the conversion of uncommercial grapes into bulk wine for the sole purpose of claiming the rebate, therefore affecting the price of both grapes and wine.
Our clients wish to confirm that they are not involved in any of these activities.
The Government response
The Government’s response to the wine industry’s calls for reform has been to reduce the rebate cap over time and, from 1 July 2019, apply tightened eligibility criteria involving the ownership or lease of a winery and the exclusion of bulk wine.
Our clients do not oppose the tightening of the eligibility criteria.  However, they do question the effectiveness of the move to link eligibility with “owning” or “leasing” winery assets. 

In their view, this move will:
- limit the production models available to winemakers when more efficient production methods may be called for;
- encourage small producers to establish their own wineries, thereby leading to the proliferation of relatively inefficient, uneconomic wineries; 
- result in the adoption of artificial and contrived arrangements designed to qualify as a producer under the new criteria; and  
- significantly increase the complexity of the tax laws, in direct conflict with the Government’s stated objective of removing complexity, as stated in Appendix A of the Implementation Paper at page 8.

Our clients acknowledge that the eligibility criteria require tightening.  Producers should have a significant commercial risk in the wine (or “skin in the game” as it has been described).  However, they contend that there are other, simpler ways of tightening the criteria and achieving the Government’s objectives.
Our Clients’ Proposal
The main features of our clients’ proposal are as follows:

1. Existing definitions in the WET Act need not be changed.
2. Section 19-5 of the WET Act, which covers the entitlement to producer rebates, will need to be changed to exclude sales of bulk wine and non-arm’s length sales.  A definition of “bulk wine” will need to be added.
3. Producers who purchase fruit, fruit juice or bulk wine and manufacture and package these materials into finished wine for arm’s length sale should continue to be eligible for the WET rebate.  These producers include boutique wineries which outsource much of the winemaking, and artisan small batch winemakers, as well as virtual producers.
4. The rebate should not be payable until the arm’s length sale of the packaged wine has been completed.  Linking rebate eligibility to arm’s length sales ensures that producers are not rewarded by simply selling poor quality wine to someone else on non-arm’s length terms.  If the producer sells the wine to a non-arm’s length wholesaler or retailer the rebate should not be payable until the wholesaler or retailer resells the wine in an arm’s length sale.
5. To be eligible for the rebate, the wine must be manufactured to a ‘ready for packaging and consumption’ standard. 
6. The producer must have ‘skin in the game’, namely ownership of the wine in the bottles and ownership of the bottles and related packaging materials.
Virtual Production
Genuine ‘virtual’ producers, such as our clients, contend that they perform the valuable role of finding markets for fruit, juice and bulk wine that may otherwise be wasted.  There is nothing wrong with the bulk wine, except for the fact that it is unsold.  For example, it may be too small a parcel for a large winemaker or it may be surplus to the winemaker’s own requirements. 

Our clients convert these bulk materials into products that retailers and consumers are willing to purchase.  They contribute to the economies of the regional communities in which the fruit is grown and the bulk wine is made.  Constant throughput ensures that there is demand for next year’s fruit and next year’s bulk wine.

One client last year purchased sufficient fruit to produce over 400,000 litres of packaged wine.  Next year’s plans call for larger purchases than this year’s purchases.  The client also wishes it to be known that it currently supports 15 regional fruit growers and their employees. 

Virtual producers are often criticised because they are not following traditional wine production models and because they appear to perform their role from behind a desk or at the end of a telephone, i.e. without having their own winemaking facilities.  However, this criticism grossly overlooks the role performed and the risk assumed by the virtual producer in:

- sourcing the raw materials, 
- processing and blending the materials to achieve the required wine characteristics that will be attractive to retailers and consumers, 
- getting the wine made to their specifications, 
- getting the wine packaged to their specifications, 
- negotiating arm’s length prices and quantities with retailers who are well aware of the existence of the rebate and 
- arranging for the delivery of the packaged wine to market, usually in one of Australia’s capital cities.

Without access to the rebate demand for these products among wine retailers would diminish and the effect would flow back to the regional fruit growers and to the bulk wine makers.  As their sales would suffer, it is likely that tightening the eligibility criteria will have the effect of reducing business activity in regional areas, thereby hurting the very people the Government is trying to support and encourage.
However, by limiting the WET rebate to producers of packaged wine who sell it at arm’s length, our clients’ proposal ensures that an economically efficient and effective non-traditional production model is not destroyed by complex changes to the WET Act.
It should be noted that our clients do not support entities which claim to be virtual producers purchasing bulk wine and contract winemaking and packaging services when all they do in reality is purchase finished, packaged wine.  Such arrangements, where they occur, can be challenged by the ATO under the existing WET laws.  Further amendments are not required.

Branding 
Our clients sell branded wine.  However, they do not include branding in their proposal.  Branding is a complex issue that will be difficult to legislate for, as is recognised in Appendix A of the Implementation Paper at pages 5 and 6.

In addition, excluding retailers’ brands will adversely affect the fundraising activities of many non-profit bodies which currently purchase bottled, but unbranded wine and sell it under their own labels.

Nevertheless, if the Government concludes that branding rules are required as part of the eligibility criteria our clients are unlikely to be adversely affected. 
Other comments
Our clients support the exclusion of bulk wine from the entitlement for the WET rebate and the tightening of other eligibility criteria designed to prevent abuse.
Our clients are of the view that if the criteria are tightened and abuse is stamped out, the rebate cap should remain at $500,000.

A definition of “bulk wine” will need to be drafted and included in the WET Act.  This definition should provide for the continued rebate eligibility of wine sold in consumer packaging (e.g. bottles and casks) and in bulk containers up to 50 litres which are used regularly for the delivery of wine to retailers.
If adopted, the proposals detailed above would also need to be included in the provisions of the WET Act applicable to New Zealand producers.  
By excluding virtual producers from rebate eligibility, the Government will eliminate an important source of sales for regional fruit growers and winemakers.  This will potentially lead to an oversupply of fruit and parcels of bulk wine and declining prices for the regional businesses which seek to sell them.

A winery assets test will increase complexity and take contract winemaking work away from existing wineries which are already set up to do such efficiently and cost-effectively.  It will also lead to the establishment of small and inefficient wineries.

Branding tests will also result in more complexity than is justifiable.

The reforms should strike an appropriate balance between the need for integrity and the aim of reducing complexity.  Our clients believe that their proposals will achieve the necessary balance. 

Should you wish to discuss any aspect of this submission please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned on the telephone numbers and email address below.

Yours sincerely
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John A Haig

Director

John Haig Pty Ltd

Level 6, 468 St Kilda Road

Melbourne 3004
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